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Summary

Constructed in 1898, the First Presbyterian Church is a one-and-a-half story, Gothic Revival-style
Church with a 1922 rear addition. Located at the southwest corner of Vandervoort and North
Fifth Street in DeQueen, the church features a corner tower, large Gothic windows, and
decorative wood shingles in the gable ends.

Elaboration

Constructed in 1898, the First Presbyterian Church is a one-and-a-half story, wood-frame church
of an irregular plan and covered by a composition-shingled, multi-gabled roof. Although
originally constructed upon stone piers, the foundation was gradually filled in with stone and
brick, and the 1922 addition was built with a continuous brick foundation. The frame walls are
clad with white-painted, drop-type novelty siding. There are no extant chimneys.

The church is entered through a Gothic-arched, single-leaf entrance on both the north and east
elevations of the tower. Both doors are wood panelled with a three-pane transom in the form of
lancet. These two entrances are shielded by separate shed roofs, which were added in 1922.
Both have exposed rafters and are supported by two triangular knee braces. Originally, the tower
supported a much taller bell tower and steeple; however, by 1909 the steeple was gone, and it
is suspected that it was damaged severely during a storm. Currently, the tower, which projects
no higher than the main gable roofline, is capped by a composition-shingled pyramid roof.

The eastern elevation features a large gable end that is fenestrated by a central tripartite Gothic
window that is flanked by a single one-over-one Gothic window on each side (all Gothic
windows have textured glass, except where replaced, and a triangular arch, while the doors have
lancet arches). The tripartite window is composed of three equally sized one-over-one, double-
hung (upper sash is currently inoperable) windows each with a triangular pointed-arch transom
in addition to three diamond-pane tracery windows in the remaining space within the arch. The
gable end is decorated with alternating bands of regular coursed, fishscale, and hexagonal-shaped
wood shingles. Although originally multi-colored, the shingles are now painted white. The gable
end is also ornamented with two decorative brackets in a trefoil design.

Similar brackets adorn the smaller cross gable on the southern elevation. This elevation is
composed of a one-over-one Gothic window to the east, a lancet-shaped entrance (wood panelled
door without transom), a three-sided bay projection in the center of the gable end, and another
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one-over-one Gothic window below the western juncture of the cross-gable roof. The bay
window contains a one-over-one Gothic window on both of the side elevations and is covered
by a three-sided, composition-shingled roof that ascends to a point below a diamond-pane window
in the gable end. Although covering a smaller area, the decorative wood shingle pattern is
identical to the eastern elevation gable end.

The remainder of the southern elevation is composed of the 1922 addition to the west. A single-
leaf entrance under a bracketed shed roof is placed at the eastern end of the addition, and four
small one-over-one, double-hung windows fenestrate the wall to the west. Six shorter one-over-
one windows are found in the long shed roof dormer above.

The rear, or western addition is likewise unornamented with the exception of two trefoil brackets
that were removed from the original western gable end. This elevation is fenestrated by four one-
over-one windows (one at the southern end, a pair in the middle, and a much smaller window
at the northern end) on the first story and four one-over-one windows on the second story (same
pattern; identical sized windows). Above these windows is a triangular-shaped, four-pane attic
window that is executed in textured glass.

The first story of the northern elevation of the addition has two small one-over-one windows,
with the eastern of the two placed below the eave to illuminate the stairwell. A bracketed, shed
roof covers a double-leaf entrance to the east, and an original one-over-one Gothic window is
positioned near the intersection with the projecting gable to the north. The shed-roof dormer on
this elevation is of identical size to its southern counterpart but contains only five one-over-one
windows.

The northern gable projects from below the roofline of the cross gable, which features a diamond-
pane window below the peak, and consequently is smaller than the cross gable to the south. Two
one-over-one Gothic windows fenestrate the western wall of this projection, while the north-
facing gable end is configured similar to the eastern gable end with a central tripartite window,
but is without the flanking windows. Likewise, the gable end features the three types of wood
shingles. The short section of northern wall is punctuated by a one-over-one Gothic window
adjacent to the intersection with the tower wall, and a identical window is positioned in the
corresponding north wall of the east elevation gable end.

The interior is largely original and features beaded-board vaulted ceilings and curved oak pews.
The pulpit is placed in the bay projection of the southern elevation with the pews fanning
outward into the northern and eastern gable ends. A large, roll-up wood wall separates the
sanctuary from the addition, which houses a fellowship hall and Sunday school rooms. The only
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significant alteration is the covering of the wainscoting with modern wood panelling.
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Summary

The First Presbyterian Church is being nominated under Criterion C with local significance as
the best example of a Gothic Revival-style church in DeQueen.

Elaboration

Arthur Stilwell and E. L. Martin began work on what would become the 800-mile Kansas City,
Pittsburg & Gulf Railroad (later the Kansas City Southern) in the late 1880s, opening a more
direct route from the grain-growing midwest to the shipping lanes on the Gulf of Mexico. By
the early 1890s, Stilwell and Martin had acquired smaller lines in and around Texarkana, Fort
Smith, and the Indian Territory, and work proceeded apace to link all of the lines into a major
route. Unfortunately, outbreaks of malaria and other diseases among the railroad workers plagued
the fledgling line, and the Panic of 1893 finally dried up investment capital nationwide and halted
construction on the Kansas City, Pittsburg & Gulf into receivership.

Undaunted, Stilwell decided to seek European capital to finance the remainder of the Kansas City,
Pittsburg & Gulf. In Holland, Stilwell met with Jan De Goiejen, a coffee wholesaler he had met
several years previous, and solicited his support in helping to finance the troubled line.
DeGoiejen was successful in raising $3,000,000 in European capital, enabling the Kansas City,
Pittsburg & Gulf to build fully one- third of the total new railroad mileage in the United States
in 1893. In appreciation, Stilwell asked the Dutchman to select several points along the railroad
line, one to be named in DeGoiejen’s honor, another in honor of his wife, Mena, and a third in
honor of his mother’s maiden name, Janssen. In a visit to Sevier County with Stilwell,
DeGoiejen personally selected the site of the town to bear his name at an existing community in
a fertile valley between the Cossatot and Rolling Fork rivers known as Calamity. Overnight, a
boomtown of tents and hastily-constructed wooden buildings grew up on the site of the new
town, including a saloon, a general mercantile store, a meat market, a blacksmith shop, and the
De Horse hotel, a log cabin with a frame addition and a crude mud and straw chimney propped
up by a sapling at one end. A post office was established in May, 1897, with William Meredith
as postmaster. Because the investor’s Dutch name was difficult to pronounce, the phonetic
spelling "DeQueen" was substituted for the new town. Soon after the selection of the Calamity
site, surveyors began plotting the new town and it was announced that lots would be available
for sale on April 26, 1897. The town was incorporated on June 3, 1897, and less than two
months after the sale of the first lots, the new community was flourishing, and within nine
months after its founding DeQueen’s population had exceeded 1,500.
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The arrival of the railroad had a profound impact on the economic development of DeQueen and
Sevier County. A telephone exchange was established in DeQueen in 1900, a water system was
completed in 1909, and a sewer system was established in 1912, although the city’s streets would
not be paved until 1930. A one-story frame schoolhouse was erected soon after the town was
established, but was replaced by a brick structure in 1903; a high school was established in 1910.
Although the new community virtually burned to the ground in 1899, the booming economy and
the enthusiasm of the populace resulted in a rapid rebuilding. A mayor/alderman form of
government was established, and although the city treasury was initially dependent on revenues
garnered through saloon licensing, in 1899 the city council began levying a five mill city tax.
With direct transportation links to Kansas City, Port Arthur, and all points in between, the
county’s agricultural products had access to a much greater market than had been the case
previously. The importance of the Kansas City Southern line attracted other railroad developers
to DeQueen and Sevier County, such as the Dierks Lumber and Coal Company, based in Kansas
City, which incorporated the DeQueen & Eastern Railroad Company in September, 1900.

By 1905, DeQueen was prepared to challenge Lockesburg for the county seat. A Sevier County
quorum court appropriation of $25,000 for a new courthouse in Lockesburg aroused considerable
controversy among a number of DeQueen businessmen, who offered to build a $10,000
courthouse at no cost to the taxpayers if the county seat was moved to DeQueen. Lockesburg
countered with an offer to donate $5,000 for the repair of the existing courthouse. An election
to decide the issue was scheduled for March, 1905, charges of bribery and fraud were leveled
against both factions, and tensions ran high between the citizens of Lockesburg and DeQueen.
DeQueen won the election by 150 votes; however, the disgruntled Lockesburg faction maintained
sufficient votes in the quorum court to prevent the county from adding anything to the $10,000
DeQueen had promised for the construction of the new courthouse. The contract for the two-
story brick courthouse was awarded to J. T. McClenahan and John and Fred DeGroot for $9,500,
and the county officials and county records were moved into the new building on its completion
in January, 1906.

DeQueen continued to grow, and by 1936 boasted a population of 3,400, with more than 800
houses and structures, two and a half miles of paved streets, and 50 miles of concrete sidewalks
within the city limits.

The Presbyterian presence in DeQueen originated in the late 1890’s when Rev. John C. William,
a church planting missionary of the old Ouachita Presbytery, began to organize a congregation
in the DeQueen area. Urging the organization of the Presbyterian congregation was F. M. Smith,
a banker who, with his wife and five young children, moved to DeQueen from Malvern. Smith
published promotional material in church papers calling for Presbyterian families to settle in the
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new town. A congregation was organized in a private home on Rose Hill and by April of 1898,
the lumber that was to be used in the construction of the church building was placed on Lot 12
of block 42 where the church would be built. Simon E. Dollarhide, who was responsible for the
construction of the post office and the plank jail for the new town of DeQueen, was hired as the
builder/contractor. In the summer of 1898 construction began on the First Presbyterian Church
of DeQueen and although the building was not yet complete, the first Communion was held. The
finished building was dedicated in December 1898.

While services were being held in the newly completed church building in 1899, church bells,
including the bell of the First Presbyterian Church, and gunfire alerted the citizens of DeQueen
to a fire which was spreading quickly through the town. A grease fire had gotten out of control
in a downtown kitchen and the ensuing fire destroyed fifty-four buildings in De Queen, the
majority of the town. The First Presbyterian Church of DeQueen, however, survived.

In 1906 the congregation incurred a dramatic surge in membership. A group of Cumberland
Presbyterians, most of whom had moved to DeQueen from Locksburg, decided to join en mass
the Presbyterian Church of United States(PCUS) and abandon the brick Cumberland Presbyterian
Church that they had built in DeQueen. This added about eighty-five names to the original
membership of the First Presbyterian Church of DeQueen. The combined DeQueen congregation
planned to sell the white frame church and the brick church and build a larger church, but these
plans were never realized.

Since inception, the First Presbyterian Church of DeQueen and its members have been involved
in the growth and development of the town of DeQueen. In 1920, Mrs. G.W. Jurey, a pastor’s
widow, started a kindergarten class which grew into the town’s first kindergarten; and in the
1970’s the church was used by a group of Lutherans who were trying to form a congregation.

The church and congregation have been active at the hospital, retirement lodge, and two nursing
homes.

In 1976, the First Presbyterian Church received a Bicentennial plaque, which designated the
structure as the oldest church in the county. Aside from age, the First Presbyterian Church is
significant as the best example of the Gothic Revival style of architecture in DeQueen. It is
notable for its corner tower (despite the loss of the steeple), the large Gothic windows, and the
decorative wood shingles in the gable ends. For these reasons, the church is being nominated
under Criterion C with local significance.
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